# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S187965

v.

STEVEN LLOYD MOSLEY,

Defendant and Appellant.

Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. G038379 Orange County Superior Court, Case No. 05NF4105 RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS ILED

KAMALA D. HARRIS

Attorney General of California

APR 11 2011

DANE R. GILLETTE

Chief Assistant Attorney General PICK K. Ohirich Clerk

GARY W. SCHONS

Deputy

Senior Assistant Attorney General

DONALD DENICOLA

Deputy State Solicitor General

ANGELA M. BORZACHILLO

Deputy Attorney General

State Bar No. 170717

110 West A Street, Suite 1100

#### **QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

- 1. Does Jessica's Law's residency restriction (see Pen. Code, § 3003.5, subd. (b))<sup>1</sup> render discretionarily imposed sex offender registration pursuant to Penal Code section 290.006<sup>2</sup> unconstitutional under *Apprendi v. New Jersey* (2000) 530 U.S. 466, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435, in the absence of a jury trial on the facts required to support the registration order?
- 2. Does section 3003.5(b), validly create a misdemeanor offense subject to violation by all persons required to register for life pursuant to Penal Code section 290, et seq., regardless of their parole status?
- 3. If section 3003.5(b) is not separately enforceable as a misdemeanor offense, does that section nevertheless operate to establish the residency restrictions contained therein as a valid condition of sex offender registration pursuant to section 290, et seq.?

Any person ordered by any court to register pursuant to the Act for any offense not included specifically in subdivision (c) of Section 290, shall so register, if the court finds at the time of conviction or sentencing that the person committed the offense as a result of sexual compulsion or for purposes of sexual gratification. The court shall state on the record the reasons for its findings and the reasons for requiring registration.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Penal Code section 3003.5, subdivision (b), hereinafter 3003.5(b), enacted as part of the Sexual Predator Punishment and Control Act: Jessica's Law (Pen. Code, § 3003.5(b) (approved by the public as Proposition 83 in the General Election in November 2006 provides::

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, it is unlawful for any person for whom registration is required pursuant to Section 290 to reside within 2000 feet of any public or private school, or park where children regularly gather.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Penal Code section 290.006 provides as follows:

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

One day in 2003, while she was staying at her grandmother's apartment in Anaheim, Lori C. met appellant Steven Mosley. (1 RT 41-42; 2 RT 242-243.) She mentioned to him that she was 12 years old. (1 RT 43.)<sup>3</sup> That evening, Lori went to the laundry room to open the door for a neighbor. Mosley walked up behind her, and when she turned, he kissed her on the lips. (1 RT 44; 2 RT 331.)

About three days later, Lori was in the carport. (1 RT 45-46.) Mosley approached her and kissed her on the neck, telling her to just relax and not say anything. (1 RT 51-52.) Lori tried to move away, but Mosley held her wrists and pinned her to the wall with the weight of his body so she could not move. (1 RT 51-52, 62.) He tried to stick his tongue in her mouth. Then he put his hand up her shirt and down her pants, grabbing her breasts and buttocks and rubbing her between the legs. (1 RT 62-63.) Pulling down his own shorts and pulling Lori's "skort" to one side, Mosley put his penis in Lori's vagina for about two minutes. (1 RT 52, 54, 134.)

Lori's older brother Robert saw Mosley standing in front of Lori with his pants hanging down to his knees. (1 RT 158, 161-164.) Her eleven-year-old brother Daniel also saw Mosley with his pants down and with his arms around Lori. (1 RT 186, 192.) Soon, Lori's grandmother came outside to check on Lori and saw her struggling with Mosley as he tried to kiss her. (2 RT 246-247.) She called out Lori's name, and yelled to Mosley, "What are you doing? She's only twelve." (1 RT 57.) Mosley turned, saw the grandmother, and fled by jumping over a wall. (1 RT 168, 194; 2 RT 247.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Mosley was 18 years old at the time of the assault. (1 CT 11, 47.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Robert was 17 years old at the time of trial. (1 RT 158.)

Scared, confused, and embarrassed, Lori did not tell anyone about the rape until months later when she confided in her father; he called the police. (1 RT 64-65, 70.) Lori's parents took her to a doctor for an examination to determine whether she had contracted any diseases as a result of the rape. (2 RT 293-294.)

An Orange County Sheriff's Department investigator interviewed Lori in August 2003 and again in September 2005. (2 RT 310, 315.) During the interviews, Lori related substantially the same account of events to which she would later testify at trial. (2 RT 316-319, 326-327.) The Sheriff's department did not request a sexual assault exam, as the offense had occurred too far in the past to yield useful results. (2 RT 330-331.)

An Orange County jury found Mosley guilty of simple assault (Pen. Code, § 240), a lesser offense included within the charged crime of committing a lewd act upon a child under 14 (Pen. Code, § 288(a)). (1 CT 94-95, 97.) The trial court sentenced Mosley to six months in the county jail. (1 CT 169; 2 RT 445.) In addition, upon finding that Mosley's assault had been sexually motivated, the court ordered him to register as sex offender under (former) Penal Code section 290, but stayed the registration order pending appeal. (1 CT 169; 2 RT 445.)

On appeal, Mosley challenged the registration order. In its first published opinion in this case,<sup>5</sup> the Court of Appeal opined that the section 3003.5(b) residency restriction, triggered by the trial court's registration order, amounted to added "punishment" exceeding the maximum statutory penalty available under the jury's misdemeanor assault verdict alone. The Court of Appeal concluded that, under *Apprendi v. New Jersey*, Mosley should have been afforded a jury trial on the predicate facts, that is, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Previously published at: 168 Cal.App.4th 512, hereinafter First Slip Opinion.

crime was committed out of sexual compulsion or for sexual gratification, that were required to support the discretionary section 290 registration obligation that triggered the residency restriction. Because Mosley had not been afforded such a jury trial, the Court of Appeal struck the registration order. (First Slip. Opn. at p. 2.)

This Court granted review and deferred briefing pending the disposition of *In re E.J. on Habeas Corpus*, S156933. In February 2010, this Court issued its decision in *In re E.J.* (2010) 47 Cal.4th 1258. In April, this Court directed the Court of Appeal to vacate its decision in this case and to reconsider the cause in light of *E.J.* 

After supplemental briefing, the Court of Appeal issued a second published opinion.<sup>6</sup> It again concluded that the Jessica's Law's residency restriction constituted additional punishment so that Mosley was entitled to a jury trial on the factual predicate for the registration obligation that had triggered the residency restriction; and it again struck the triggering registration order. (Second Slip Opn. at p. 3, 26-27.)

The People filed a petition for review on the question of whether enforcement of Mosley's sex offender registration obligation required an *Apprendi* jury trial on the predicate fact that the offense had been sexually motivated. This Court granted the petition and identified further specific questions for briefing.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The Court of Appeal erred in invalidating the trial court's discretionary order requiring Mosley to register as a sex offender. Such registration does not implicate any *Apprendi* right to a jury trial. Indeed, this Court already held that in *People v. Picklesimer* (2010) 48 Cal.4th 330.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Previously published at: 188 Cal.App.4th 1090, hereinafter Second Slip Opn.

Nor does the statutory imposition of the Jessica's Law residency restriction in section 3003.5(b), which follows from the defendant's status as a sex offender registrant, require a jury trial to determine the facts requisite to the registration obligation. Like registration itself, the residency restriction is regulatory, involves no incarceration, and does not implicate matters traditionally entrusted to the jury at common law so as to trigger any *Apprendi* jury-trial right.

Even if the residency restriction somehow required *Apprendi* jury findings of the facts giving rise to the underlying registration obligation, Mosley's registration obligation still would remain intact. The Jessica's Law residency restriction applies only to sex offender parolees and only as a statutory condition of their parole from prison; violation of the restriction, where it applies, is not a crime but only a violation of parole. As a mere misdemeanor probationer, rather than a felony parolee, Mosley is not subject to the Jessica's Law residency restriction as a result of his crime at all. So the *Apprendi* jury trial required by the Court of Appeal is unnecessary and could serve no purpose.

Further, even if Mosley were subject to the residence restriction, his separate registration obligation would be severable and therefore would still remain in effect. This Court already decided as much in *Picklesimer*. And, in any event, the alleged *Apprendi* jury-trial error in Mosley's case proves harmless. For it may be said beyond a reasonable doubt that, given the overwhelming evidence that the crime was sexually motivated, a jury would have found the factual predicate for section 290 registration.

2. In response to the Court's questions, as implicit in the argument that Mosley is not subject to the residency restriction, it is respondent's view, as previously expressed in other state and federal courts, that the section 3003.5(b) residency restriction operates, not as a basis for criminal liability, but only as a condition of parole for sex offender parolees.

Similarly, the residency restriction does not operate as part of the section 290 registration obligation so as to permit prosecution under the registration-enforcement provision of section 290 for violation of the residency restriction itself.

Though adhering here to those previously expressed views, respondent notes that a case might be made for the proposition that the voters may have intended that section 3003.5(b) would operate so that a violation of the residency restriction by any sex offender registrant would be punishable as a misdemeanor. To aid the Court, respondent discusses that counter argument in some detail below.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. A DEFENDANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO A JURY TRIAL ON THE FACTUAL PREDICATE THAT SUPPORTS HIS OBLIGATION TO REGISTER AS A SEX OFFENDER

#### Introduction

The Court of Appeal held that the Jessica's Law residency restriction, imposed by statute on sex offender registrants, constituted a penalty beyond the maximum punishment available simply for Mosley's conviction for assault. Therefore, the Court of Appeal ruled, Mosley was entitled under *Apprendi* to a jury trial on the facts necessary to support the discretionary registration obligation that triggered the residency restriction. Because Mosley was not afforded that jury trial, the appellate court concluded that the registration order itself must be struck.

The Court of Appeal, however, erred in invalidating Mosley's registration requirement. Sex offender registration does not implicate any *Apprendi* right to a jury trial and nor does the Jessica's Law residency restriction.

Even if the residency restriction somehow required *Apprendi* jury findings to support the underlying registration obligation, Mosley's

registration obligation would remain intact. Because he is not a sex offender parolee, Mosley is not subject to the Jessica's Law residency restriction at all. Further, Mosley's separate registration obligation is separately enforceable without regard to the residency restriction. In any event, an *Apprendi* jury-trial error in Mosley's case proves harmless.

# A. The Sex Offender Registration Requirement Does Not Implicate the *Apprendi* Right to a Jury Trial.

Regardless of whether the Court of Appeal was right about the nature of the Jessica's Law residency restriction in section 3003.5(b), it erred in its holding that invalidated the trial court's section 290 registration order on *Apprendi* jury-trial grounds. As this Court recently held, sex offender registration does not trigger any *Apprendi* jury-trial right. (*People v. Picklesimer*, *supra*, 48 Cal.4th at pp. 343-344.)

Registration falls outside the *Apprendi* jury-trial rule because it is not the kind of consequence that traditionally has been entrusted to a criminal case jury. (See *Oregon v. Ice* (2010) 555 U.S. 160 [129 S.Ct. 711, 713, 172 L.Ed.2d 517].) Most obviously, it is not incarceration. It is, instead, a regulatory measure for the protection of society. As this Court has repeatedly recognized, it does not even amount to punishment for the defendant's crime. (*People v. Hofsheier* (2006) 37 Cal.4th 1185, 1197 (citing *In re Alva* (2004) 33 Cal.4th 254, 268; *People v. Castellanos* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 785, 796.) Thus, even to the extent that it was based on the trial judge's own finding that Mosley's assault against Lori C. had been sexually motivated, the discretionary order requiring Mosley to register as a sex offender under section 290 was valid notwithstanding *Apprendi*.

B. The Jessica's Law Residency Restriction Does Not Affect the Continuing Validity under *Apprendi* of Sex Offender Registration Based on Findings Made by a Judge

To be sure, the Court of Appeal never directly questioned *Picklesimer's* holding that sex offender registration implicates no *Apprendi* right to a jury trial. Instead, it invalidated Mosley's registration obligation on a roundabout theory: that, under section 3003.5(b) as enacted in Jessica's Law, section 290 registration now carries with it an onerous new residency restriction that separately entitled the defendant to an *Apprendi* jury trial on the factual allegations supporting the underlying registration obligation. The Court of Appeal's theory was wrong in a number of ways.

1. The Jessica's Law residency restriction does not implicate *Apprendi*.

First, the Jessica's Law residency restriction does not implicate any constitutional right to a jury trial on the factual predicate, that is, the crime for which the jury convicted the defendant had been sexually motivated, which supports a registration order. As with registration itself, the Jessica's Law residency restriction does not amount to incarceration. As with registration, it is regulatory, and as the Court of Appeal recognized (Slip Opn at p. 19), was not intended to be punitive. In sum, with registration, the residency restriction falls outside the *Apprendi* rule because it is not the kind of consequence of a conviction that historically was entrusted to control by the jury.

a. Oregon v. Ice, supra, 555 U.S. 160, is instructive. In Ice, Oregon law required concurrent sentences unless a judge found certain facts that then permitted consecutive sentences. (Id. at p. 715.) Finding such facts, the judge sentenced Ice to consecutive terms totaling 340 months for multiple sex offenses, rather than to concurrent terms that would have expired after only 90 months. (Id. at p. 716, fn. 5.) Ice contended that,

under *Apprendi*, the Sixth Amendment guaranteed him a right to jury findings on the facts that alone authorized the consecutive sentences. (*Ibid.*)

But the United States Supreme Court rejected Ice's contention. It explained that application of the *Apprendi* rule must honor the longstanding common-law practice in which the rule is rooted. (*Oregon v. Ice, supra*, 555 U.S. at p. 717.) The "animating principle" of the *Apprendi* rule, the Court further observed, was preservation of the jury's historic role as a bulwark between the state and the accused at trial for an alleged offense. (*Ibid.*) Historically, however, that role did not extend to the decision to impose sentences consecutively or concurrently. That choice, instead, historically "rested exclusively with the judge." (*Id.* at pp. 717-718.)

Also significant here, *Ice cautioned* against over-expansion of *Apprendi* "beyond its necessary boundaries" to invalidate or jeopardize modern state initiatives. As *Ice* noted, states permit judges to make a wide variety of sentencing determinations beyond that of setting the length of incarceration. (*Oregon v. Ice, supra*, 555 U.S. at p. 719.) Judges often find facts, about the nature of an offense or the character of the defendant, in determining the length of supervised release following a prison sentence, attendance at drug rehabilitation programs, terms of community service, fines, and orders for restitution. (*Ibid.*) "Intruding" *Apprendi's* rule into these sentencing choices or "accoutrements" would cut the rule "loose from its moorings." (*Id.*) Finally, *Ice* explained that sentencing-choices findings about the nature of the offense and the character of the defendant have been historically entrusted to the sentencing judge rather than to the jury. (*Oregon v. Ice, supra*, 555 U.S. at p. 719.)

Application of *Ice* to the Jessica's Law residency restriction dictates rejection of Mosley's jury-trial claim. The section 3003.5(b) residency restriction does not involve added incarceration at all, as did the extended-

term sentencing consequences at issue in the Supreme Court's *Apprendi* line of cases. Nor can Mosley point to historical common-law practice entrusting the basis for any residency restriction to the jury's determination.

Instead, the residency restriction and the underlying registration obligation are modern regulatory imperatives unknown at common law. If anything, the registration obligation and the residency restriction are akin to other modern programs, such as supervised release following a prison sentence, attendance at drug rehabilitation programs, terms of community service, and orders for restitution, programs that *Ice* made clear were unaffected by *Apprendi*. To invalidate them under *Apprendi* would also jeopardize other similar modern programs. Finally their operation depends upon evaluation of the nature of the offense and of the offender.

Just as the common law discloses no jury-trial pedigree for consecutive sentencing, it discloses no such pedigree for the Jessica's Law residency restriction or its underlying registration obligation. Neither, then, is subject to any constitutional requirement for a jury trial under *Apprendi*.

b. The Court of Appeal begged the *Apprendi* question when it considered only whether the residency restriction might be considered "punishment" so as to trigger other general constitutional guarantees. It relied heavily on *Mendoza-Martinez* (1963) 372 U.S. 144 [83 S.Ct. 554, 9 L.Ed.2d 644], where the Supreme Court held that the government could not divest an American of citizenship without affording him the protections of the Fifth and Sixth Amendments. But the further question of whether the Constitution entitles a defendant to the specific right to a jury trial, however, depends upon "the longstanding common-law practice" in which the jury-trial rule is rooted. (*Oregon v. Ice, supra*, 555 U.S. at p. 712.) Under the Court of Appeal's truncated analysis, due process somehow would guarantee a jury trial even to a defendant charged with a misdemeanor for which he might be "punished" by imprisonment for less

than six months in jail, contrary to the settled understanding of the constitutional provision specifically governing jury trials. (See *Duncan v. Louisiana* (1968) 391 U.S. 145, 159-160 [88 S.Ct. 1444, 1453, 20 L.Ed.2d 491].)

The issue here, more narrowly confined, is whether the defendant has a right to jury trial for a residency-restriction "accoutrement" of sentencing. *Ice*, not *Mendoza-Martinez*, controls that question. Under *Ice*, the answer is "no."

C. Even if enforcement of the residency restriction requires jury findings on the underlying registration facts, the registration obligation in this case remains valid.

Besides its error in deducing a jury-trial right from the residency restriction, the Court of Appeal's order striking Mosley's registration obligation was wrong for three further reasons. First, the residency-restriction statute does not govern non-parolees such as Mosley. Second, even if it did, Mosley's underlying registration obligation would remain separately enforceable. Third, any error was harmless.

# 1. The residency restriction applies only to parolees.

Jessica's Law imposes its residency restriction only on parolees and only as a statutory condition of their parole from prison. As merely a misdemeanor probationer, rather than a felony parolee, Mosley is not subject to the Jessica's Law residency restriction at all.

The conclusion that the residency restriction is only a statutory parole condition, and not a more broadly enforceable obligation, is part and parcel of the analysis offered by respondent in Argument II at pages 15-22, *post*, on the question of whether a violation of the restriction constitutes a crime. Although one could make a plausible argument that the Jessica's Law residency restriction applies to all sex offender registrants and that violation

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