#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFOR	NIA, )
Plaintiff and Respondent,	) No. S187965 SUPREME COURT
<b>v.</b>	
STEVEN LLOYD MOSLEY,	OCT 19 2011
Defendant and Appellant.	Frederick K. Ohlrich Clark
	Deputy

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

Here we deal with a residency restriction rather than registration and notification requirements. Nevertheless, the observations and analytical frameworks in *Doe* and *Wallace* are applicable. (*Commonwealth v. Baker, supra*, 295 S.W.3d at p. 446 [concluding the residency restriction was excessive because of its consequences and because there is no individual determination of the threat a particular registrant poses to public safety]; *Matter of Berlin v. Evans* (2011) 31 Misc.3d 919, 929 [923 N.Y.S.2d 828, 836] [same]; *Pollard v. State, supra*, 908 N.E.2d at p. 1153 ["Restricting the residence of offenders based on conduct that may have nothing to do with crimes against children, and without considering whether a particular offender is a danger to the general public, the statute exceeds its non-punitive purposes."].)

The residency restrictions in Jessica's Law are underinclusive. They do

not apply to defendants who have committed the same acts as a registrants but who avoid conviction by pleading guilty to a lesser charge or who have their convictions reversed. Also, they do not apply to homeless offenders, they permit registrants to remain near schools and in parks as long as they do not reside within 2000 feet of a school or park, and they allow registrants to live with children as long as the residence is 2000 feet from school or a park.

Moreover, they are overinclusive. Although their purpose is to protect children, they apply to all convicted sex offenders, even those whose crimes show no sexual interest in children. Jessica's Law does not consider whether a particular offender is a danger to children. In addition, the law has consequences unrelated to its interest in protecting children. It has caused a huge increase in homelessness among registrants, which has a punitive effect on these registrants. And because homeless people are harder to monitor, locate and supervise, Jessica's Law actually results in a substantial decrease in the protective purpose of the statute.

The residency restriction in Jessica's Law is excessive with respect to its nonpunitive purpose and therefore this factor weighs in favor of finding the law punitive.

# vi. Summary

Several cases hold residency restrictions to be punitive. (State v. Pollard, supra, 908 N.E.2d at p. 1154; Commonwealth v. State, supra, 295 S.W.3d at p. 447; Matter of Berlin v. Evans, supra 923 N.Y.S.2d at p. 836; Mikaloff v. Walsh, supra, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 65076.) Even in the cases holding residency restrictions nonpunitive, judges dissented from the holdings. (Doe v. Miller, supra, 405 F.3d at pp. 723-726; State v. Seering, supra, 701 N.W.2d at pp. 671-672; People v. Leroy, supra, 828 N.E.2d at pp. 784-793.) All five factors weigh in favor of concluding that the effect of the residency

restrictions in Jessica's Law are punitive.

Aeschylus writes in *Agamemnon*: "Exiles feed on empty dreams of hope." (Line 1668, Richmond Lattimore's translation.) The Sixth Amendment accords a defendant a jury trial on the facts authorizing the residency restrictions that empty his dreams of hope. Here, the Sixth Amendment requires that the discretionary findings under section 290.006 triggering the application of the residency restrictions be made by a jury, not a judge.

#### 6. E.J. and Picklesimer

This Court has not decided whether the residency restrictions in Jessica's Law are punitive. However, it has commented in passing on the point in *In re E.J.*, *supra*, 47 Cal.4th 1258 and *People v. Picklesimer*, *supra*, 48 Cal.4th 330. The Court's comments do not undermine the above analysis because it did not analyze or apply the five factors that relate to punitiveness.

E.J. involved registered sex offenders who were convicted before, and paroled after, the enactment of Jessica's Law. (Id. at p. 1264.) They argued that the residency restriction in Jessica's Law did not apply to them for various reasons, including that such application would violate the ex post facto clauses of the state and federal constitutions. The Court rejected the latter contention. (Ibid.)

The Court resolved the issue by relying on the rationale of the ex post facto prohibition, which is to assure that a legislative act gives fair warning of its effect so that people can rely on the statute's meaning until it is changed. (*Id.* at 1279.) The Court noted that to be ex post facto, two elements both must be present: the law must be retroactive (i.e., it must apply to events occurring before its enactment) and it must disadvantage the offender affected by it. (*Ibid.*) The focus is on the last act or event necessary to trigger application of

the statute. (*Id.* at 1273.) The court held that the residency restriction was not ex post facto because it applied to an event occurring after its adoption – the petitioners' taking up residency in noncompliant housing. (*Id.* at 1280.) The petitioners were not punished for their original offenses, but rather for conduct occurring after the adoption of Jessica's Law.

Thus, when resolving the ex post facto issue, the court did not analyze whether the residence restriction in Jessica's Law was punitive. Unlike *E.J.*, appellant's case requires that the Court resolve this issue. Because *E.J.* does not address the issue, it has no precedential value. "[C]ases, of course, are not authority for propositions not there considered." (*People v. Ceballos* (1974) 12 Cal.3d 470, 481.)

In *Picklesimer*, the Court addressed a procedural issue of how defendants who are not in custody and whose appeals are over, but who may have a basis for challenging, on equal protection grounds, the mandatory requirement for sex offender registration, can challenge that requirement. The Court concluded that the appropriate procedural vehicle is a petition for writ of mandate in the trial court, not a postjudgment motion for relief. (*People v. Picklesimer*, *supra*, 48 Cal.4th at p. 335.) The Court also discussed the discretionary registration requirement now found in section 290.006. The discussion was premised on the assumption the mandatory registration requirement did not apply. (*Id.* at p. 342.)

The defendant in *Picklesimer* was convicted of sex offenses in 1993. (*Id.* at p. 336.) The discretionary registration requirement was enacted in 1994, after the defendant's conviction. (*Id.* at p. 342.) The Court addressed whether the discretionary registration requirement applied even though it was not in place at the time of the conviction. (*Ibid.*) The Court concluded that the Legislature intended that the discretionary registration requirement apply to

crimes committed before its enactment, and noted that it had held in Castellanos, supra, 21 Cal.4th 785 that such retroactive application of the requirement was constitutional. (Id. at p. 343.) Picklesimer argued that application of section 290.006 violates Apprendi because it imposes heightened punishment in the form of a residency restriction based on a finding by a court rather than a jury. (Id. at pp. 343-344.) The Court did not decide whether the residency restriction was punishment for purposes of Apprendi. Instead, it focused on the registration requirement alone and said it did not matter for purposes of this requirement whether or not the residency restriction was punitive. As the Court put it:

If Proposition 83's restrictions do not amount to punishment for his original crimes, there is no *Apprendi* problem and no right to a jury trial. Conversely, if Proposition 83's restrictions were to be considered punishment for his original offenses, they could not under the state and federal ex post facto clauses be constitutionally applied to Picklesimer, whose crimes all long predate the approval of Proposition 83. In either event, there is no constitutional bar to having a judge exercise his or her discretion to determine whether Picklesimer should continue to be subject to registration.

# (Id. at p. 344, citations omitted.)

As in E.J., the Court in *Picklesimer* did not address the question of whether the residency requirement is punitive and did not apply the five-factor test for making this determination. As with E.J., *Picklesimer* is not authority for the proposition that the residency restriction in Jessica's Law is not punitive.

### 7. Response to the Attorney General's Argument

The Attorney General argues that sex offender registration does not implicate the right to a jury trial under *Apprendi*. (ROBOM 7.) Under this Court's precedent, this is correct. But it is not the issue. The issue instead is whether the residency restriction in Jessica's Law is punitive. If it is, appellant is entitled to a jury trial of the facts which permit this punitive requirement. Those facts happen to be the facts that trigger registration. But this is incidental – it is how Jessica's Law was written. For *Apprendi* purposes, the focus is not on the nature of the facts that lead to the sanction but rather the punitive nature of the sanction. And if the same facts lead to two sanctions, one of which is punitive and one of which is not, a jury must find those facts.

Respondent argues that the residency requirement is not punitive because it was not intended to be punitive, because it is not the kind of sanction that historically was entrusted to a jury, and because the five-factor test does not apply. (ROBOM 8-10.) Appellant disagrees.

The intent behind Jessica's Law is punitive, as explained in subsection B5b above.

The *Ice* case on which respondent relies is inapposite. It does not deal with whether the sanction (consecutive sentences) is punitive, which is the issue here. Instead, it finds that consecutive sentences did not have to be decided by the jury because traditionally and historically the judge, not the jury, made this determination, and because *Apprendi* is based on long-standing common law practice. (*Oregon v. Ice* (2009) 555 U.S. 160, 164, 167-169, 172 [129 S.Ct. 711, 172 L.Ed.2d 517].) The Court made clear in *Ice* that the decision in that case applied to "multiple offenses different in character or committed at different times" but that *Apprendi* applied to punishment "for a discreet crime." (*Id.* at p. 167.) The sanction of residency restriction is recent

and has no historical tradition comparable to the one for consecutive sentences. Also, it is a punishment provision that applies to a discreet crime as opposed to applying to the interrelationship of multiple crimes. Residency restrictions are thus analogous to an enhancement – an additional punishment for a single crime – and identical in principle to the "offense-specific" (*id.* at p. 163) penalty provision in *Apprendi*.

As for respondent's suggestion that the five-factor test, derived from *Mendoza-Martinez*, does not apply, it is sufficient to say that this position is at odds with all residency-restriction cases – both those finding that restrictions punitive and those finding them nonpunitive – cited and discussed in subsection B5c above. Respondent relies entirely on *Ice*. None of the relevant case law relies on *Ice*, and respondent cites no case that does.

Respondent argues that the residency restriction applies only to parolees, not to appellant, who is a probationer. (ROBOM 11-12.) Appellant disagrees for the reasons set forth in argument II, below.

Respondent argues that if the residency restriction applies to appellant, the registration requirement remains. (ROBOM 12-13.) Appellant disagrees.

Respondent argues that this Court's decision in *Picklesimer* supports his position by holding that a registration requirement remained valid even if *Apprendi* requires a jury trial to support a residency restriction. (ROBOM 12-13.) There is no such holding in *Picklesimer*. Instead, as explained in subsection B6, above, the discussion on which respondent focuses relates entirely to the registration requirement. The Court held the trial court could determine whether the defendant should be subject to discretionary registration. (*People v. Picklesimer, supra*, 48 Cal.4th at p. 344.) But it did not hold or even suggest that the residency restriction could be severed from the registration requirement and did not purport to rewrite section 3003.5,

subdivision (b) to allow this.

Respondent argues that any *Apprendi* error was harmless because the trial court found beyond a reasonable doubt that the offense was committed as a result of sexual compulsion or for sexual gratification, the Court of Appeal rejected the argument that registration was factually unsupported, and there was overwhelming evidence the assault was the result of sexual compulsion or for purposes of sexual gratification. (ROBOM 13-14.) Appellant disagrees with respondent's analysis.

Respondent is correct in stating that the test for reversal is the one in Chapman v. California (1967) 386 U.S. 18, 24 [87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705], under which respondent has the burden of establishing beyond a reasonable doubt that the error was harmless. An appellate court applies this test by evaluating the record and asking whether respondent has shown beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury that tried this case would have found that the crime was the result of sexual compulsion or for purposes of sexual gratification. The question is "whether the jury would have returned the same verdict absent the error." (Washington v. Recuenco (2006) 548 U.S. 212, 221 [126 S.Ct. 2546, 165 L.Ed.2d 466].) The focus is on the whether the error did or did not "contribute to the verdict obtained." (Neder v. United States (1999) 527 U.S. 1, 17 [119 S.Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed.2d 35]; Chapman v. California, supra, 386 U.S. at p. 24.)

Respondent's discussion of harmless error fails to consider the essential issues of whether the jury in this case would have made the necessary findings and the relationship of error to the verdict the jury returned.

The basis for the judgment in this case was verdicts finding appellant not guilty of the charged offense of committing a lewd act, but guilty of the lesser included offense of misdemeanor simple assault. (CT 94-95.) The

instruction describing simple assault stated that the People were not required to prove that appellant actually touched someone, but that a touching, even if slight and done through the victim's clothing, was sufficient if done in a rude or angry way. (CT 131-132.) The instruction describing the offense of committing a lewd act on a child stated that a touching was required and could consist of touching the victim's clothing, but it had to be accompanied by the intent of arousing, appealing to or gratifying the lust, passions, or sexual desires of the defendant or the child. (CT 133.) The only sensible explanation for the verdicts is that the jury thought appellant touched the victim in a rude or angry manner, and therefore committed a simple assault, but that appellant did not harbor a lewd intent when doing so, and therefore did not commit a lewd act.

In light of the jury's verdict and the factual findings on which it was based, it is not clear by any standard, let alone beyond a reasonable doubt, that the jury would have found that the offense involved sexual compulsion or sexual motivation. Respondent's claim that the evidence of sexual compulsion and motivation is overwhelming does not comport with the jury's evaluation of the evidence.

Nor does the Court of Appeal's finding in footnote 3 of the slip opinion aid respondent. There, the court simply rejected an insufficiency of evidence argument because it had to defer to the trial court's evaluation of Lori's credibility. Review of insufficiency of evidence arguments are highly deferential to the trier of fact, which, with respect to the facts related to registration, was the trial court. For purposes of such review, the evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to respondent. (*People v. Johnson* (1980) 26 Cal.3d 557, 576.) Analysis of whether an error is harmless is different and involves independent appellate review. A finding of harmlessness for the error

in this case relates to what the jury that tried the case would have concluded, not to what the trial court concluded.

When the test for harmless error is properly applied, it is clear the error was not harmless.

#### II

# THE RESIDENCY RESTRICTIONS APPLY REGARDLESS OF THE REGISTRANT'S PAROLE STATUS

Respondent argues that the residency restrictions in Jessica's Law apply only to parolees. (ROBOM 15-23.) Appellant disagrees.

Preliminarily, appellant wishes to commend respondent's counsel for acknowledging how tenuous her argument is. But the argument is more than tenuous. It is completely without merit because it simply cannot be squared with the plain words of the applicable statute.

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